

# INSTITUTO POTOSINO DE INVESTIGACIÓN CIENTÍFICA Y TECNOLÓGICA, A.C.

POSGRADO EN CIENCIAS EN BIOLOGIA MOLECULAR

# Evaluation of phthalates exposition in sirtuin transcription in HepG2 cells and its toxicity in human hematopoietic stem cells

Tesis que presenta

Ana Karen Gutiérrez García

Para obtener el grado de

Doctora en Ciencias en Biología Molecular

Director de la Tesis: Dr. Antonio De León Rodríguez

San Luis Potosí, S.L.P., enero 2020



## Constancia de aprobación de la tesis

La tesis *"Evaluation of phthalates exposition in sirtuin transcription in HepG2 cells and its toxicity in human hematopoietic stem cells"* presentada para obtener el Grado de Doctora en Ciencias en Biología Molecular fue elaborada por **Ana Karen Gutiérrez García** y aprobada el diez de enero del dos mil veinte por los suscritos, designados por el Colegio de Profesores de la División de Biología Molecular del Instituto Potosino de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica, A.C.

Dr. Antonio De León Rodríguez Director de la tesis

Dr. Alejandro De Las Peñas Nava Miembro del Comité Tutoral

Dra. Ana Paulina Barba de la Rosa Miembro del Comité Tutoral

Dra. Luz María Teresita Paz Maldonado Miembro del Comité Tutoral



# **Créditos Institucionales**

Esta tesis fue elaborada en el Laboratorio de Bioenergía y Biotecnología molecular de la División de Biología Molecular del Instituto Potosino de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica, A.C., bajo la dirección del Dr. Antonio De León Rodríguez.

Durante la realización del trabajo se contó con el apoyo del CONACyT a través de los proyectos Problemas Nacionales 4601 y TEXAS-MEXUS 2015-002. La autora recibió una beca académica del Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología 297341 y del Instituto Potosino de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica, A. C.



# Instituto Potosino de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica, A.C.

## Acta de Examen de Grado

El Secretario Académico del Instituto Potosino de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica, A.C., certifica que en el Acta 109 del Libro Segundo de Actas de Exámenes de Grado del Programa de Doctorado en Ciencias en Biología Molecular está asentado lo siguiente:

En la ciudad de San Luis Potosí a los 10 días del mes de enero del año 2020, se reunió a las 12:00 horas en las instalaciones del Instituto Potosino de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica, A.C., el Jurado integrado por:

Dra. Ana Paulina Barba de la Rosa Dra. Luz María Teresita Paz Maldonado Dr. Alejandro De Las Peñas Nava Dr. Antonio De León Rodríguez

Presidenta Secretaria Sinodal Sinodal IPICYT UASLP IPICYT IPICYT

a fin de efectuar el examen, que para obtener el Grado de:

DOCTORA EN CIENCIAS EN BIOLOGÍA MOLECULAR

sustentó la C.

#### Ana Karen Gutiérrez García

sobre la Tesis intitulada:

Evaluation of phthalates exposition in sirtuin transcription in HepG2 cells and its toxicity in human hematopoietic stem cells

que se desarrolló bajo la dirección de

Dr. Antonio De León Rodríguez

El Jurado, después de deliberar, determinó

#### APROBARLA

Dándose por terminado el acto a las 13:30 horas, procediendo a la firma del Acta los integrantes del Jurado. Dando fe el Secretario Académico del Instituto.

A petición de la interesada y para los fines que a la misma convengan, se extiende el presente documento en la ciudad de San Luis Potosí, S.L.P., México, a los 10 días del mes de enero de 2020.

- Marcial Bonilla Marín Secretario Académico Mtra. Ivonne Lizette Cuevas Vélez Jefa del Departamento del Posgrado



### **Dedicatorias**

Dedico este trabajo y el esfuerzo puesto en él, a las personas

que me han apoyado en todo momento a lo largo de mi carrera

# profesional, mi familia.

Mis padres Silvia García y José Manuel Gutiérrez

# Mis hermanos Shantal, Andrea y Pepe

Mis sobrinos Renata y Chistopher

# LOS AMO

## **Agradecimientos**

Agradezco al Dr. Antonio de León Rodríguez por permitirme realizar este proyecto en su laboratorio.

Al Dr. Víctor Balderas por su apoyo para la realización de esta tesis.

A los doctores Alejandro De las Peñas, Ana Paulina Barba de la Rosa, Luz María Teresita Paz Maldonado y Carlos Barajas<sup>†</sup>, por sus comentarios y sugerencias.

A la Dra. Choudhury por su gran apoyo durante mi estancia en Texas, por las asesorías, por el conocimiento adquirido y por toda la ayuda económica, moral y académica brindada durante mi estancia.

Al Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACyT) por el otorgamiento de la beca No. 297341 para realizar mis estudios de doctorado en el IPICyT.

Al Instituto Potosino de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica, por haber brindado los recursos necesarios para mi formación profesional.

A mis amigos y compañeros del laboratorio 4 que me acompañaron en esta travesía: Marco, José Luis, Arlette, Ángel, Kathy, Daniel, Francisco, Mariana y Ceci por sus consejos, sugerencias y por hacer los ratos más agradables.

Al team pirrukuin por su apoyo en los buenos y malos momentos.

A mi queridísima roomie Cecilio por hacer los días más llevaderos, por aguantar mi genio en esos días malos y por su apoyo.

A mi tía Rosalba por su ayuda y apoyo durante mi estancia en Texas, ya que sin su apoyo no hubiera sido posible mi estancia.

A mi tía Norma García, por estar siempre presente apoyándome y ayudándome en todo lo posible, de corazón muchas gracias por todo.

Y por último y no menos importante a mi familia (papas y hermanos) por su apoyo, comprensión y cariño a lo largo de mi carrera profesional y personal, por estar siempre presentes en cada una de mis metas.

vi

# Contenido

Contenido	
Constancia de aprobación de la tesis	ii
Créditos Institucionales	iii
Acta de examen	iv
Dedicatorias	v
Agradecimientos	vi
Lista de tablas	ix
Lista de figuras	Х
Resumen	xi
Abstract	xii
Chapter 1	1
Diisononyl Phthalate Differentially Affects Sirtuin Expression in the Hep Cell Line	<b>G2</b> 1
Abstract	1
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	3
2.1. Cell Culture and Exposure Conditions.	3
2.2. Cell Viability Assay.	3
2.3. Quantitative Real-Time Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR).	۱ 4
2.4. Western Blotting.	4
2.5. Measurement of Reactive Oxygen Species.	5
2.6. Statistical Analysis.	5
3. RESULTS	6
3.1. DINP Affects Cell Viability in the HepG2 Cell Line.	6
3.2. DINP Differentially Regulates Sirtuin Expression.	6
3.3. DINP Decreases Sirt1 and Sirt3 Protein Levels and Increases Acetylated Protein in HepG2 Cells.	9
3.4. DINP Treatment Increases Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) Leve	<b>ls.</b> 9
4. DISCUSSION	12
5. CONCLUSION	16
6. REFERENCES	17

Chapter 2	23
Phthalates affect the <i>in vitro</i> expansion of human hematopoietic stem cell	23
Abstract	23
1. INTRODUCTION	24
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	28
2.1. Reagents	28
2.2. Cell culture and exposure conditions	28
2.3. Determination of hematopoietic progenitors	28
2.4. Statistical analysis	29
3. RESULTS	30
3.1. Representative kinetics of cell expansion of DEHP treatments	30
<b>3.2.</b> Effect of phthalates on the <i>in vitro</i> expansion of hematopoietic co 30	əlls
3.3. Effect of phthalates on hematopoietic progenitor cells of umbilic	al
cord blood	33
4. DISCUSSION	35
5. CONCLUSIONS	37
6. REFERENCES	38
ANNEXES	45

# Lista de tablas

Table 1. Gene primers used in this study.4Table 2. Concentrations range of phthalates or the main metabolite found in body26

# Lista de figuras

Figure 1 Chemical structure of diisononyl phthalate (DINP)	2
Figure 2. DINP induced cytotoxicity in HepG2 cells.	7
Figure 3. DINP decreased the expression of Sirt1, Sirt2, and Sirt3 in HepG2 cells	s. 8
Figure 4. Protein levels of Sirt1 and Sirt3 were affected at 1 µg/mL of DINP, and	
acetylation protein levels were increased.	10
Figure 5. Highest concentrations of DINP increased ROS levels in HepG2 cells.	11
Figure 6. Proposed model for the effect of DINP in sirtuin regulation.	15
Figure 7. Structure of common phthalates.	25
Figure 8. Kinetic of hematopoietic cell expansion exposed to the treatments with	
DEHP.	31
Figure 9. Maximum cell expansion of hematopoietic cells exposed to DBP, BBP,	
DEHP and DEP.	32
Figure 10. Maximum hematopoietic progenitor expansion exposed to DBP, BBP	,
DEHP and DEP.	34

## Resumen

## "Evaluación de la exposición de ftalatos en la transcripción de sirtuinas en células HepG2 y su toxicidad en células madre hematopoyéticas humanas"

Los plastificantes son sustancias incorporadas en polímeros plásticos para aumentar su flexibilidad y maleabilidad. Los ésteres de ácido ftálico (ftalatos) se desarrollaron para su uso como plastificantes en la década de 1920 y cada año se venden más de 8 millones de toneladas de plastificantes en todo el mundo, representando el 70% de todos los plastificantes industriales actuales. Los ftalatos no están unidos covalentemente al polímero plástico y pueden migrar al medio ambiente. Por lo tanto, los humanos están expuestos a estos compuestos; su exposición se ha asociado con retrasos en la fertilidad, un mayor riesgo de alergias, asma, obesidad, diabetes y cáncer. Debido al peligro potencial para la salud humana y el medio ambiente, varias organizaciones internacionales de salud y medio ambiente han clasificado los ftalatos como contaminantes prioritarios. Por lo tanto, evaluamos la citotoxicidad del diisononil ftalato (DINP), su efecto sobre la expresión de sirtuinas en células HepG2 y su efecto sobre los niveles de especies reactivas de oxígeno (ROS). Los resultados mostraron que 1 µg/mL DINP disminuyó significativamente la expresión de los genes Sirt1, Sirt2, Sirt3 y Sirt5. Además, los niveles de proteínas de Sirt1 y Sirt3 fueron significativamente disminuidos por 1 µg/mL DINP. Por otro lado, 100 µg/mL DINP duplicaron los niveles de proteínas de acetilación en lisina, así como las especies reactivas de oxígeno. Además, evaluamos el efecto de cuatro ftalatos dibutil ftalato (DBP), bencil butil ftalato (BBP), dietil ftalato (DEP) y dietilhexil ftalato (DEHP) en la expansión in vitro de células hematopoyéticas humanas. Para esto, 0.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> células/mL se expusieron a concentraciones que oscilaban entre 0.1 y 100 µg/mL de ftalatos y se determinó la expansión celular total después de 14 días de cultivo en medio IMDM-citocinas. Los cultivos control alcanzaron  $1.31 \pm 0.21 \times 10^6$  cell/mL mientras, que los cultivos expuestos a DBP, BBP y DEHP mostraron una reducción del 23 al 81%, del 17 al 69% y del 15 al 93.5%, respectivamente.

PALABRAS CLAVE: células HepG2, células madre hematopoyéticas, ftalatos, toxicidad

# Abstract

## "Evaluation of phthalates exposition in sirtuin transcription in HepG2 cells and its toxicity in human hematopoietic stem cells"

Plasticizers are substances incorporated into plastic polymers to increase their flexibility and workability. Phthalic acid esters (phthalates) were developed for use as plasticizers in the 1920's and more than 8 million tons of plasticizers are sold globally every year, representing the 70% of all current industrial plasticizers. Phthalates are not covalently bound to the plastic polymer and can migrate to the environment. Therefore, humans are exposed to these compounds; its exposure has been associated with delays in fertility, increased risk of allergies, asthma, obesity, diabetes and cancer. Due to the potential hazard to human health and the environment, several international health and environment organizations have classified phthalates as priority pollutants. Therefore, the cytotoxicity of diisononyl phthalate (DINP) was evaluated on sirtuin expression in HepG2 cells and its effect on the levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Results showed that 1 µg/mL DINP significantly down-regulated Sirt1, Sirt2, Sirt3, and Sirt5 gene expression. Furthermore, protein levels of Sirt1 and Sirt3 were significantly down-accumulated by 1 µg/mL DINP. On the other hand, 100 µg/mL DINP doubled the levels of lysine acetylation proteins as well as reactive oxygen species (ROS). Also, the effect of four phthalates: dibutyl phthalate (DBP), benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP), diethyl phthalate (DEP) and diethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) was evaluated on the in vitro expansion of human hematopoietic cells. For this, 0.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL were exposed to concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 100 µg/mL and the total cell expansion was determined after 14 days of culture in IMDM-cytokines medium. The control cultures attained  $1.31 \pm 0.21 \times 10^6$  cell/mL, whereas the cultures exposed to DBP, BBP and DEHP showed a reduction from 23 to 81%, 17 to 69% and 15 to 93.5%, respectively.

KEYWORDS: HepG2 cells, Hematopoietic stem cells, Phthalates, Toxicity

# Chapter 1

# Diisononyl Phthalate Differentially Affects Sirtuin Expression in the HepG2 Cell Line

#### Abstract

Human exposure to phthalates has received special attention due to their possible adverse human health effects. Diisononyl phthalate (DINP) is a plasticizer still widely used in many products, despite being considered an endocrine disruptor. In this study, we evaluated DINP's cytotoxicity, its effect on the levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and its effect on sirtuin expression in HepG2 cells. Results showed that 1 µg/mL DINP significantly down-regulated Sirt1, Sirt2, Sirt3, and Sirt5 gene expression (p < 0.05), while other sirtuins remained unaffected. Furthermore, protein levels of Sirt1 and Sirt3 were significantly down- regulated by 1 µg/mL DINP. On the other hand, 100 µg/mL DINP doubled the levels of lysine acetylation proteins (increased 2-fold) as well as reactive oxygen species (ROS) compared with the controls. In conclusion, our study suggests, for the first time, that DINP regulates the potential epigenetic disruptor sirtuin family and leads to induction of ROS via sirtuins.

Gutiérrez-García AK, Choudhury M, De Leon-Rodriguez A. Diisononyl Phthalate Differentially Affects Sirtuin Expression in the HepG2 Cell Line. Chemical Research in Toxicology. 2019, 32, 9, 1863-1870.

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs) are defined as exogenous substances that have the ability to cause adverse health effects in an intact organism by altering functions of the endocrine system [1]. It was originally thought that EDCs act primarily through nuclear hormone receptors; however, it is now widely accepted that EDCs act through a variety of signaling mechanisms, which include nuclear steroid receptors, nonsteroid receptors, orphan receptors, epigenetic modifications, and enzymatic pathways ultimately responsible for maintaining endocrine homeostasis [2]. Phthalates are a group of endocrine disruptors used as plasticizers in materials such as polyvinyl chloride, along with being involved in the manufacturing processes of many other products. Diisononyl phthalate (DINP) is one of the primary phthalates most used in the industry. It is a mixture of compounds consisting of isononyl esters of phthalic acid (Figure 1). DINP is widely used in flooring, wire and cable, dip coating, coated fabrics, tubing, shoes, sealants, and artificial leather; humans may be exposed to DINP by oral, dermal, and inhalation routes [3]. The environmental ubiquity of DINP is known, and its presence has even been reported in river water, drinking water, outdoor air, and indoor air [4]. DINP and its metabolites are widely studied and have received considerable attention recently because of specific concerns about dietary or medical exposure in pediatric patients [5]. It has been proposed that population exposure to DINP would not exceed the levels of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) [3], which are estimated at 3-30 µg/kg body weight/day [6]. Phthalates, including DINP, are not covalently bound to plastics and can migrate into saliva, where they are swallowed [3,7]. Thus, children may be exposed to higher levels of DINP than adults, because infants and small children mouth toys and other articles containing DINP [3,8]. The chronic health effects of DINP, including organ toxicity, carcinogenicity, and reproductive toxicity, have been reviewed in dietary studies [3,8]. Early life exposure to phthalates has been associated with a variety of adverse effects, particularly those involving endocrine processes [3,9]. It has been noted that levels of phthalate metabolites in urine and serum are associated with



Figure 1 Chemical structure of diisononyl phthalate (DINP)

central obesity and insulin resistance in adults [10,11], suggesting that adult exposure to phthalates may link obesity with related metabolic disorders. This is in addition to a possible contributing role in the development of obesity, as shown by recent data reporting an association between urinary levels of phthalates and higher odds for obesity (body mass index) in children and adolescents [9]. Sirtuins (Sirts) are a group of mitochondrial NAD+-dependent histone deacetylases which have emerged as key epigenetic regulators that act as cellular sensors by detecting energy availability and modulating metabolic processes [12]. Sirtuins are involved in several cellular functions including chromosomal stability, DNA repair, the cell cycle, apoptosis, metabolism, and aging by deacetylating a variety of transcription factors, histones, and nonhistone proteins. Several studies identified Sirt3 as a potentially important factor in the pathogenesis of diabesity. For instance, Zhang et al. showed that butyl benzyl phthalate (BBP) decreases Sirt1 and Sirt3 gene expression and protein levels in HepG2 cells [13]. Additionally, our group also showed that several phthalates and persistent organic pollutants differentially modulate the sirtuin family in macrophage cells [14]. The aim of this study was to investigate sirtuin regulation, levels of lysine acetylation proteins, and the generation of reactive oxygen species under exposure to diisononyl phthalate (DINP) by HepG2 cells.

#### 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1. Cell Culture and Exposure Conditions.

The human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (HepG2) was cultured in DMEM (Sigma) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, GIBCO) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Sigma) at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in an incubator. For treatments with DINP (Sigma), the cells were cultured in 24-well plates ( $2 \times 10^5$  cells per well in 1 mL of medium) for 1 day before using them for exposition. A stock of DINP 100 mg/mL in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma) was prepared, and logarithmic dilutions with DMSO were performed until to obtain solutions with DINP 10 000, 1000, and 100 µg/mL, and then the required volume was added to each well to obtain the desired concentration. The control used to compare was medium plus DMSO. HepG2 cells were cultured with various concentrations of DINP (0.1, 1, 10, and 100 µg/mL). After 48 h of treatment, mRNA was extracted and quantified for gene expression. To analyze protein expression of Sirt1, Sirt2, Sirt3, Sirt5, and acetylated proteins, HepG2 cells were cultured with the same DINP concentrations (0.1, 1, 10, and 100 µg/mL), and after 72 h of treatment, nuclear and mitochondrial proteins were extracted and analyzed by Western blot. Briefly, the cells were harvested in ice-cold buffer B (containing 20 mM HEPES, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 25% glycerol, 420 mM NaCl, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.2 mM EDTA) and supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail and 0.5 mM PMSF (Sigma).

#### 2.2. Cell Viability Assay.

Cell viability was determined by the tetrazolium dye 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay using thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide powder (Sigma) as described previously.<sup>13</sup> Briefly, HepG2 cells were plated and incubated with different concentrations of DINP at 48 h. The cells were incubated with MTT solution (10  $\mu$ L per well, 5 mg/mL in PBS) for 4 h at 37 °C. The supernatant was then removed, and formazan crystals were dissolved in 100  $\mu$ L of DMSO with orbital shaking. Optical densities of the resultant solutions were determined colorimetrically at 490 nm using a microplate reader (BioRad). The percentage of viable cells was determined by comparing the optical densities of cells incubated with the varying concentrations of DINP and DMSO control.

# 2.3. Quantitative Real-Time Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR).

The total RNA was extracted using TRI reagent (Sigma). The cDNA was made from 1  $\mu$ g of total RNA by using High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The forward and reverse primers used in the present study are shown in Table 1. Real-time PCR was performed using SYBR select master mix (Applied Biosystems). The 18S cDNA level was used as a reference gene, the expression levels were normalized to 18S, and gene expression was calculated using the 2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ CT</sup> method and expressed as fold change [15]. All assays were carried out in triplicate.

Gene	Forward primer 5'-3'	Reverse primer 5'-3'
h18S (F4)	CTCTAGATAACCTCGGGCCG	GTCGGGAGTGGGTAATTTGC
hSirt1 (F2)	TAGCCTTGTCAGATAAGGAAGGA	ACAGCTTCACAGTCAACTTTGT
hSirt2 (F1)	ATCCACCGGCCTCTATGACAA	CGCATGAAGTAGTGACAGATGG
hSirt3 (F1)	GACATTCGGGCTGACGTGAT	ACCACATGCAGCAAGAACCTC
hSirt4 (F2)	GAATCGGGGATACCAGACTACA	GCCAGCCTACGAAGTTTCTCG
hSirt5 (F1)	GCCATAGCCGAGTGTGAGAC	CAACTCCACAAGAGGTACATCG
hSirt6 (F1)	CCCGGATCAACGGCTCTATC	GCCTTCACCCTTTTGGGGG
hSirt7 (F1)	CGTCCGGAACGCCAAATAC	GACGCTGCCGTGCTGATT

Table 1. Gene primers used in this study.

#### 2.4. Western Blotting.

Once the nuclear and mitochondrial proteins were extracted, the concentration was estimated with BSA reagents from Thermo Scientific. Equal amounts of protein were separated using SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Thermo Scientific). Membranes were blocked with 5% milk in TBS containing 0.1% Tween 20 (Sigma) for 1 h, and they were incubated with the respective primary antibody 1:1000: Sirt1 (Cell Signaling, MA, #2496), Sirt2 (Cell Signaling, #12672), Sirt3 (Cell Signaling, #2627), Sirt5 (Santa Cruz, CA, #271635), acetylated-lysine (Cell signaling, #9441), or  $\beta$ -actin (Cell Signaling, #8457). AP conjugated secondary antibody (Invitrogen #T2191) was used for detection and quantification of immunoblots. Membranes were developed using enzymatic substrate. Band

densities were analyzed by ImageStudio Lite software (LI-COR). All assays were made in triplicate.

#### 2.5. Measurement of Reactive Oxygen Species.

Reactive oxygen species levels (ROS) were measured using 2', 7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFDA, Sigma). Briefly, DINP-treated cells were seeded in a 96-well plate for 48 h. Cells were then incubated with 25 mM DCFDA for 45 min at 37 °C, and the fluorescence was measured using a plate reader (Fluoroskan Ascent FL, Thermo Scientific).

#### 2.6. Statistical Analysis.

All data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error (SE). Statistical significance was determined by One- way ANOVA (p < 0.05). Pairwise comparisons were made using Tukey's test (p < 0.05).

#### 3. RESULTS

### 3.1. DINP Affects Cell Viability in the HepG2 Cell Line.

To determine the effect of DINP on cell viability, HepG2 cells were treated with different doses of DINP (0.1, 1, 10, and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) for 48 h. The results showed that DINP has a dose- dependent effect on cell viability in HepG2 cell lines (Figure 2). Low concentrations of DINP (0.1 and 1  $\mu$ g/mL) showed insignificant levels of cell death. Treatments with 10 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL were significantly affected by DINP as compared to the control (*p* < 0.05); however, 85% of cells were viable for both concentrations. To evaluate if the DINP diluent could affect the cellular viability, two diluents, DMSO (Figure 2A) and ethanol (Figure 2B), were tested. In both cases no effect of the diluents on the cellular viability was observed.

#### 3.2. DINP Differentially Regulates Sirtuin Expression.

The effect of DINP treatment on the gene expression of sirtuins was determined by treating HepG2 cells with different doses of DINP (0.1, 1, 10, and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) for 48 h. Sirt1, Sirt2, and Sirt5 gene expression was significantly decreased at a low concentration (1  $\mu$ g/mL) of DINP when compared to control (p < 0.05). The gene expression levels of Sirt1, Sirt2, and Sirt5 decreased to 50% at 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/mL DINP, while gene expression decreased by 75% with DINP 100  $\mu$ g/mL (Figure 3A, B, E). For Sirt3, the gene expression levels did not reach below 50% for all concentrations tested. Interestingly, gene expression of Sirt3 showed a significant decrease at 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL DINP (p < 0.001) (Figure 3C), displaying a dose-dependent effect. Others sirtuins (Sirt 4, 6, 7) evaluated remain unaffected (Figure 3D, F, G).





Figure 2. DINP induced cytotoxicity in HepG2 cells. HepG2 cells were incubated with different concentrations of DINP for 48 h. Cell viability was determined by MTT assay. Two different (A) DMSO and (B) EtOH diluents were tested, demonstrating that neither causes an adjuvant or cytotoxic effect. The labels medium, DMSO, and ethanol represents DMEM medium, medium+DMSO, and medium+ethanol, respectively. Data represent the means  $\pm$  SE (n = 6), \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, versus untreated control.



Figure 3. DINP decreased the expression of Sirt1, Sirt2, and Sirt3 in HepG2 cells. HepG2 cells were exposed for 48 h at different concentrations (0.1, 1, 10, and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) of DINP. (A–G) The mRNA levels of Sirts 1 to 7 were determined by qPCR. The 18S gene served as an endogenous control. All data are mean ± SE, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 compared to an untreated control; n = 3.

# 3.3. DINP Decreases Sirt1 and Sirt3 Protein Levels and Increases Acetylated Protein in HepG2 Cells.

To determine the effect of DINP on Sirt1, Sirt2, Sirt3, Sirt5, and acetylated protein levels, HepG2 cells were treated with different doses of DINP (0.1, 1, 10, and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) for 72 h. Treatments of 1 to 100  $\mu$ g/mL DINP significantly decreased Sirt1 and Sirt3 protein levels (p < 0.05) (Figure 4A,B). The protein expression levels of Sirt1 at 1  $\mu$ g/mL DINP decreased 25% and at 100  $\mu$ g/mL decreased 50% compared to the control. Similarly, protein levels of Sirt3 treated with 1 to 100  $\mu$ g/mL decreased to 50% compared to the control (Figure 4B). On the other hand, 100  $\mu$ g/mL doubled the protein acetylation levels (p < 0.05) (Figure 4C, D). These results are consistent with the gene expression results. Interestingly, Sirt2 and Sirt5 did not show significant changes (Figure 4B).

#### 3.4. DINP Treatment Increases Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) Levels.

To investigate if DINP induced ROS production, HepG2 cells were treated with doses of DINP (0.1 to 100  $\mu$ g/mL) for 48 h. The results showed that DINP increased the ROS levels in a dose-dependent manner and ROS levels were significantly increased (*p* < 0.05) in the DINP 100  $\mu$ g/mL treatments (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Protein levels of Sirt1 and Sirt3 were affected at 1 µg/mL of DINP, and acetylation protein levels were increased. HepG2 cells were exposed for 72 h at different concentrations (0.1, 1, 10, and 100 µg/mL) of DINP. (A, B) Protein levels of Sirt1, Sirt3. (C, D) Lysine acetylation was determined by Western blot analysis. Quantification of expression was described as the ratio of protein level to  $\beta$ -actin level. One representative blot is shown. All data are mean ± SE, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 compared to an untreated control; n = 3.



Figure 5. Highest concentrations of DINP increased ROS levels in HepG2 cells. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels were determined by measuring oxidized dichlorofluorescein (DCF) levels using 2,7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFDA). Data represent the mean  $\pm$  standard error versus untreated control. \*p < 0.05, n = 4.

#### 4. DISCUSSION

Several studies have shown that phthalates have toxic effects at levels similar to those to which average populations are currently exposed [16-18]. DINP has been identified as a food contaminant, and it has been banned and restricted by regulatory agencies in the EU [19,20]. Children may be particularly susceptible to the effects of DINP because they have higher relative exposures compared with adults (due to greater dietary intake per kilogram), their metabolic (i.e., detoxification) systems are still developing, and key organ systems are undergoing substantial changes and maturations that are vulnerable to disruptions. In 2009-2010 NHANES data, it was reported that urinary metabolites of DINP were detected in 98% of the population. Additionally, cross-sectional data from NHANES from 2009 to 2012 show positive associations of DINP metabolite concentrations with insulin resistance and systolic blood pressure z scores in children and adolescents [21]. Therefore, in the present study, we investigated the possible effects of exposure to DINP phthalate on sirtuin gene and protein expression levels. Because phthalate exposure in humans is widespread, it is important to know if phthalates can interact with epigenetic regulators such as sirtuins, which can promote long-term changes in metabolic homeostasis, potentially leading to deleterious physiological consequences. Our results showed, for the first time, that DINP decreased Sirt1, Sirt2, and Sirt3 gene expression (Figure 3) and Sirt1 and Sirt3 protein levels were downregulated in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 4). The study by Zhang et al. [13] discovered that when HepG2 cells were treated with benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP), Sirt1 and Sirt3 gene and protein expression were decreased, which agrees with our results. Reduced levels of Sirt1 and Sirt3 expression have been shown to cause impaired metabolic function or age-related complications [22,23]. Therefore, DINP-induced down-regulation of Sirt1 and Sirt3 may have a plausible correlation to recent metabolic-related health concerns.

Oxidative stress is due to the continuous production of ROS, which imbalances the production of free radicals and the antioxidant system and can usually induce oxidative damage such as DNA oxidation, protein oxidation, and lipid peroxidation [24,25]. Thus, oxidative stress can be considered an overwhelming generation of reactive species or a general disruption of redox cellular homeostasis. It has been

reported to play an important role in the pathogenesis of diabetes, asthma, and other diseases [26-28]. ROS may function as regulators of cell signaling, which may impact the development of a metabolic disorder. The production of ROS is negatively associated with cell viability, energy metabolism, and metabolic diseases, and it is already known that during conditions of metabolic stress such as obesity and metabolic syndrome, an oxidative stress environment is created [25]. Oxidative damage by release of ROS has been attributed to some phthalates, including DEHP. Recently, several studies have reported an association between exposure to phthalates including DINP and oxidative stress. For example, Liu et al. [29] observed that ROS levels were increased significantly by mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (MEHP). Aly et al. [30] showed that dibutyl phthalate (DBP) induced testicular toxicity by oxidative stress. MEHP induces apoptosis through ROS-mediated mitochondrialdependent pathway in HUVEC cells [31]. Franken et al. [32] showed a highly significant association of phthalate exposure with oxidative stress via DEHP and its main metabolite MEHP. Kang et al. [33] showed that DINP contributes to the development of allergic asthma by promoting the elevation of oxidative stress and activating the NF-K $\beta$  signaling pathway. The toxic effects of DINP such as acute toxicity, mutagenicity, carcinogenicity, and reproductive and developmental toxicity [34-36] have been associated with ROS accumulation. For instance, Ma et al. [37] demonstrated that the hepatic injury in mice was caused by the toxic effect of ROS accumulation by DINP. Similarly, our results showed that ROS production increased when cells are exposed to DINP (Figure 5). The toxic effects associated with altered levels of subcellular ROS are largely prevented by various antioxidants, many of which are regulated by sirtuins and appear to be an integral part of an important cellular defense mechanism against oxidative stress and ROS formation. Several studies support the idea that sirtuins play very important roles in maintaining proper cellular redox balance and seem to be protecting the body from the adverse effects of oxidative stress and associated diseases. Therefore, sirtuins have emerged as key players in regulating the antioxidative capacity of cells. For instance, several reports support the idea that Sirt1 can mediate an oxidative stress response, directly deacetylating several transcription factors that regulate antioxidant genes [38-41]. For example, sirtuins can regulate oxidative stress mainly through forkhead transcription factor (FOXO), which controls a variety of cellular processes including ROS production, DNA repair, and apoptosis [39]. Results reported by Brunet et al. [38] demonstrated that Sirt1 deacetylates FOXO1 and FOXO3a and increases cellular resistance to oxidative stress in HEK 293 cells, where FOXO deacetylation confers cell resistance to oxidative stress. During oxidative stress, Sirt1-FOXO3a interaction increased the transcription of stress-resistant genes and decreased the expression of FOXO3a-dependent proapoptotic genes [38]. In our case, DINP indeed acetylated several proteins in HepG2 cells (Figure 4C, D). Sirt2 has a critical role in the modulation of the oxidative stress response. Sirt2 is a central regulator of the defense mechanism against ROS and has been shown to deacetylate and activate Forkhead box O3 (FOXO3a), a transcriptional activator of superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2) which in turn reduces the ROS level [42]. On the other hand, Sirt3 is known to mediate the flow of mitochondrial oxidative pathways, plays an important role in the detoxification of ROS, and therefore regulates the production of ROS [43]. Sirt3 has been shown to mediate the deacetylation of enzymes that are responsible for the reduction of ROS, leading to protection against oxidative stress. For instance, Sirt3 has been shown to deacetylate and activate isocitrate dehydrogenase 2 (IDH2), SOD2 (by direct deacetylation and activation of the enzymatic function) [44-46], and catalase, all key enzymes in reducing the cellular levels of ROS [25, 47, 48]. Sirt3 is shown to activate antioxidant machinery in the mouse heart by inducing the expression of SOD2 and catalase through deacetylation of the transcription factor FOXO3a [47]. In addition, decreased Sirt3 levels have been found in human epidermal keratinocytes after ozone exposure, which was correlated with increased DNA damage, higher levels of cellular H2O2, and reduced SOD2 protein levels [49], and loss of Sirt3 has been shown to increase the production of ROS [50]. It has been reported that Sirt5 also desuccinylates and activates the ROSdetoxifying enzyme superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) and, at least in the brain, regulates the SOD2 expression [51, 52]. These findings strengthen evidence that phthalates can activate oxidative stress via sirtuins (Figure 6). In this work, decrease of sirtuins 1 and 3 was observed at 1 µg/mL of DINP; however, cellular toxicity and

protein deacetylation started at 100  $\mu$ g/mL of DINP. Therefore, it might be that the residual sirtuin content and activity was sufficient to maintain cellular vitality. The use of sirtuin inhibitors and activators could help to clarify this issue.



Figure 6. Proposed model for the effect of DINP in sirtuin regulation. DINP treatment induces downregulation of sirtuins, which leads to increased levels of ROS production by acetylation of several proteins involved in the oxidative stress pathway and modulation of metabolic genes.

#### **5. CONCLUSION**

Our study suggests that DINP can alter the potential epigenetic disruptor sirtuin family and thus lead to the induction of ROS via sirtuins. We observed a decrease in gene expression and protein levels of Sirt1 and Sirt3 proteins after exposure to DINP at concentrations that do not affect HepG2 cell viability. This can be correlated with an increase in acetylated proteins, which as a result leads to an increase in ROS levels. However, considering the widespread exposure to DINP in the population, in vivo studies will be required to understand the effect of DINP on the regulation of sirtuins. Identifying the mechanism whereby phthalate exposure is associated with a metabolic syndrome remains an important area of research.

#### 6. REFERENCES

- Hansen, J.F., et al., Influence of phthalates on cytokine production in monocytes and macrophages: a systematic review of experimental trials. PloS one, 2015. 10(3): p. e0120083.
- Helsley, R.N. and C. Zhou, Epigenetic impact of endocrine disrupting chemicals on lipid homeostasis and atherosclerosis: a pregnane X receptorcentric view. Environmental epigenetics, 2017. 3(4): p. dvx017.
- Kavlock, R., et al., NTP Center for the Evaluation of Risks to Human Reproduction: phthalates expert panel report on the reproductive and developmental toxicity of di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate. Reproductive toxicology (Elmsford, NY), 2002. 16(5): p. 529.
- Huber, W.W., B. Grasl-Kraupp, and R. Schulte-Hermann, Hepatocarcinogenic potential of di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in rodents and its implications on human risk. Critical Reviews in Toxicology, 1996. 26(4): p. 365-481.
- 5. Shea, K.M. and C.o.E. Health, *Pediatric exposure and potential toxicity of phthalate plasticizers.* Pediatrics, 2003. **111**(6): p. 1467-1474.
- Doull, J., et al., A cancer risk assessment of di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate: application of the new US EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 1999. 29(3): p. 327-357.
- Earls, A., I. Axford, and J.H.I. Braybrook, Gas chromatography–mass spectrometry determination of the migration of phthalate plasticisers from polyvinyl chloride toys and childcare articles. Journal of Chromatography A, 2003. 983(1-2): p. 237-246.
- Babich, M.A., et al., *Risk assessment of oral exposure to diisononyl phthalate from children's products.* Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 2004.
   **40**(2): p. 151-167.

- 9. Trasande, L., T.M. Attina, and J. Blustein, Association between urinary bisphenol A concentration and obesity prevalence in children and adolescents. Jama, 2012. **308**(11): p. 1113-1121.
- Lind, P.M., et al., Serum concentrations of phthalate metabolites are related to abdominal fat distribution two years later in elderly women. Environmental Health, 2012. 11(1): p. 21.
- Stahlhut, R.W., et al., Concentrations of urinary phthalate metabolites are associated with increased waist circumference and insulin resistance in adult US males. Environmental health perspectives, 2007. 115(6): p. 876.
- Kendrick, A.A., et al., Fatty liver is associated with reduced SIRT3 activity and mitochondrial protein hyperacetylation. Biochemical Journal, 2011. 433(3): p. 505-514.
- 13. Zhang, J., et al., *The plasticizer BBP selectively inhibits epigenetic regulator sirtuins.* Toxicology, 2015. **338**: p. 130-141.
- 14. Park, M.H., A.K. Gutiérrez-García, and M. Choudhury, *Mono-(2-ethylhexyl)* phthalate aggravates inflammatory response via sirtuin regulation and inflammasome activation in RAW 264.7 cells. Chemical research in toxicology, 2019.
- 15. Livak, K.J. and T.D. Schmittgen, Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2- ΔΔCT method. methods, 2001.
  25(4): p. 402-408.
- Koch, H.M., H. Drexler, and J. Angerer, An estimation of the daily intake of di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) and other phthalates in the general population. International journal of hygiene and environmental health, 2003.
   206(2): p. 77-83.
- 17. Matsumoto, M., M. Hirata-Koizumi, and M. Ema, *Potential adverse effects of phthalic acid esters on human health: a review of recent studies on*

*reproduction.* Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 2008. **50**(1): p. 37-49.

- Rowdhwal, S.S.S. and J. Chen, *Toxic effects of di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate: an overview.* BioMed research international, 2018. 2018.
- Zota, A.R., C.A. Phillips, and S.D. Mitro, Recent fast food consumption and bisphenol A and phthalates exposures among the US population in NHANES, 2003–2010. Environmental health perspectives, 2016. **124**(10): p. 1521-1528.
- 20. Ventrice, P., et al., *Phthalates: European regulation, chemistry, pharmacokinetic and related toxicity.* Environmental toxicology and pharmacology, 2013. **36**(1): p. 88-96.
- Attina, T.M. and L. Trasande, Association of exposure to di-2ethylhexylphthalate replacements with increased insulin resistance in adolescents from NHANES 2009–2012. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2015. 100(7): p. 2640-2650.
- 22. Brenmoehl, J. and A. Hoeflich, *Dual control of mitochondrial biogenesis by sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3.* Mitochondrion, 2013. **13**(6): p. 755-761.
- Das, S., et al., Antiaging properties of a grape-derived antioxidant are regulated by mitochondrial balance of fusion and fission leading to mitophagy triggered by a signaling network of Sirt1-Sirt3-Foxo3-PINK1-PARKIN. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2014. 2014.
- 24. Halliwell, B., et al., *Antioxidants and human disease: a general introduction.* Nutrition reviews, 1997. **55**(1): p. S44.
- 25. Merksamer, P.I., et al., *The sirtuins, oxidative stress and aging: an emerging link*. Aging (Albany NY), 2013. **5**(3): p. 144.
- Balaban, R.S., S. Nemoto, and T. Finkel, *Mitochondria, oxidants, and aging.* cell, 2005. **120**(4): p. 483-495.

- 27. Bikkad, M.D., et al., *Oxidative stress in type II diabetes mellitus.* Biomedical Research, 2014. **25**(1): p. 84-87.
- Murta, G.L., et al., Oxidative effects on lung inflammatory response in rats exposed to different concentrations of formaldehyde. Environmental Pollution, 2016. 211: p. 206-213.
- Liu, N., et al., Mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate induced ROS-dependent autophagic cell death in human vascular endothelial cells. Toxicology in Vitro, 2017. 44: p. 49-56.
- Aly, H.A., et al., Dibutyl phthalate induces oxidative stress and impairs spermatogenesis in adult rats. Toxicology and industrial health, 2016. 32(8):
   p. 1467-1477.
- 31. Ban, J.-B., et al., *Mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate induces injury in human umbilical vein endothelial cells.* PloS one, 2014. **9**(5): p. e97607.
- 32. Franken, C., et al., Phthalate-induced oxidative stress and association with asthma-related airway inflammation in adolescents. International journal of hygiene and environmental health, 2017. 220(2): p. 468-477.
- 33. Kang, J., et al., Exposure to a combination of formaldehyde and DINP aggravated asthma-like pathology through oxidative stress and NF-κB activation. Toxicology, 2018. 404: p. 49-58.
- Hannas, B. R., et al. (2012) Genomic biomarkers of phthalate- induced male reproductive developmental toxicity: A targeted RT- PCR array approach for defining relative potency. Toxicol. Sci. 125 (2), 544–557.
- 35. Santangeli, S., et al. (2017) Effects of diisononyl phthalate on Danio rerio reproduction. Environ. Pollut. 231, 1051–1062.

- Carnevali, O., et al. (2019) Dietary diisononylphthalate contamination induces hepatic stress: A multidisciplinary investigation in gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) liver. Arch. Toxicol., 1– 13.
- Ma, P., et al. (2014) Oral exposure of Kunming mice to diisononyl phthalate induces hepatic and renal tissue injury through the accumulation of ROS. Protective effect of melatonin. Food Chem. Toxicol. 68, 247–256.
- 38. Brunet, A., et al., *Stress-dependent regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase.* science, 2004. **303**(5666): p. 2011-2015.
- Giannakou, M.E. and L. Partridge, *The interaction between FOXO and SIRT1: tipping the balance towards survival.* Trends in cell biology, 2004. **14**(8): p. 408-412.
- 40. Kobayashi, Y., et al., *SIRT1 is critical regulator of FOXO-mediated transcription in response to oxidative stress.* International journal of molecular medicine, 2005. **16**(2): p. 237-243.
- 41. Sun, W., et al., Overexpression of Sirt1 in mesenchymal stem cells protects against bone loss in mice by FOXO3a deacetylation and oxidative stress inhibition. Metabolism, 2018. **88**: p. 61-71.
- 42. Wang, F., et al., SIRT2 deacetylates FOXO3a in response to oxidative stress and caloric restriction. Aging cell, 2007. **6**(4): p. 505-514.
- Verdin, E., et al., Sirtuin regulation of mitochondria: energy production, apoptosis, and signaling. Trends in biochemical sciences, 2010. 35(12): p. 669-675.
- 44. Chen, Y., et al., *Tumour suppressor SIRT3 deacetylates and activates manganese superoxide dismutase to scavenge ROS.* EMBO reports, 2011.
  12(6): p. 534-541.

- 45. Qiu, X., et al., *Calorie restriction reduces oxidative stress by SIRT3-mediated SOD2 activation.* Cell metabolism, 2010. **12**(6): p. 662-667.
- 46. Tao, R., et al., Sirt3-mediated deacetylation of evolutionarily conserved lysine
  122 regulates MnSOD activity in response to stress. Molecular cell, 2010.
  40(6): p. 893-904.
- 47. Sundaresan, N.R., et al., Sirt3 blocks the cardiac hypertrophic response by augmenting Foxo3a-dependent antioxidant defense mechanisms in mice. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2009. 119(9): p. 2758-2771.
- 48. Tao, R., et al., Regulation of MnSOD enzymatic activity by Sirt3 connects the mitochondrial acetylome signaling networks to aging and carcinogenesis. Antioxidants & redox signaling, 2014. 20(10): p. 1646-1654.
- 49. McCarthy, J.T., et al., *Effects of ozone in normal human epidermal keratinocytes.* Experimental dermatology, 2013. **22**(5): p. 360-361.
- 50. Finley, L.W., et al., *SIRT3* opposes reprogramming of cancer cell metabolism through HIF1α destabilization. Cancer cell, 2011. **19**(3): p. 416-428.
- 51. Lin, Z.-F., et al., SIRT5 desuccinylates and activates SOD1 to eliminate ROS.
  Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2013. 441(1): p. 191-195.
- 52. Liu, L., et al., Protective role of SIRT5 against motor deficit and dopaminergic degeneration in MPTP-induced mice model of Parkinson's disease.
   Behavioural Brain Research, 2015. 281: p. 215-221.

### Chapter 2

# Phthalates affect the *in vitro* expansion of human hematopoietic stem cell

#### Abstract

Phthalates are esters of phthalic acid used industrially as plastic additives; however, these are not covalently bound to the polymer matrix and therefore can be released to the environment. The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of four phthalates: dibutyl phthalate (DBP), benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP), diethyl phthalate (DEP) and diethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) on the in vitro expansion of human hematopoietic cells from umbilical cord blood. For this, 0.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL were exposure to concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 100 µg/mL and the total cell expansion was determined after 14 days of culture in IMDM-cytokines medium. The control cultures attained  $1.31 \pm 0.21 \times 10^6$  cell/mL, whereas the cultures exposed to DBP, BBP and DEHP showed a reduction from 23 to 81%, 17 to 69% and 15 to 93.5%, respectively. DEP did not affect the total cell expansion. The most significant decrease on total cell expansion was observed at 0.1 µg/mL DBP, 100 µg/mL BBP and 10  $\mu$ g/mL DEHP (p < 0.05). Additionally, the effect of these compounds on the expansion of hematopoietic progenitors was analyzed by clonogenic assays as colony forming units (CFU). The CFU decreased considerably compared with respect to the control cultures. The reduction was 74.6 and 99.1% at 10 and 100 µg/mL DBP respectively, whereas 100 µg/mL BBP and 100 µg/mL DEHP reduced the CFU expansion in 97.1% and 81%, respectively. Cultures exposed to DEP did not show significant differences. The results demonstrate the toxicity of DBP, BBP and DEHP on the human hematopoietic stem cells.

Gutiérrez-García AK, Flores-Kelly JM, Ortiz-Rodriguez T, Kalixto-Sanchez MA, De Leon-Rodriguez A. Phthalates affect the *in vitro* expansion of human hematopoietic stem cell. Cytotechnology. 2019, 71, 2, 553-561.

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Phthalate esters, also called phthalates, are a group of synthetic, liquid, colorless, viscous and lipophilic chemical compounds. These compounds are used as plasticizer additives to provide flexibility to the finished plastic product or as a vehicle for coloring, gloss or fragrance. Dibutyl phthalate (DBP) is used as a component of latex adhesives. It is also used in cosmetics and other personal care products as a plasticizer in cellulose plastics, and as a solvent for dyes [1]. Benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP) is most commonly found in vinyl products including flooring, paints, adhesives, children's toys, food packaging, etc. [2]. Phthalates, such as diethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) and diethyl phthalate (DEP), are some of the most widely used and can be found in a wide variety of products such as tablecloths, curtains shower, etc. (Figure 7) [3, 4]. It has been reported that in some cases phthalates can represent up to 40% of a finished product for direct use by the consumer [5]. Specifically, in the area of health, some medical materials have been analyzed and 20–40% of phthalates have been found in them [6]. When used as plasticizers these additives do not chemically bond to the polymers of the plastic and therefore can be released, migrate and evaporate to the environment around them. These contaminants have been found in food, air, soil, water and sediments [7-10]. Therefore, humans are in contact with them through different exposure routes. For example, oral, medical, dermal and inhalation exposure is very common for high molecular weight phthalates such as BBP or DEHP. For the DEP, because it is of low molecular weight, the main routes of exposure are dermal and inhalation since it is used mainly as a solvent and vehicle for fragrances and ingredients for cosmetics, instead of as a plasticizer [3, 11-14]. This explains why in humans, phthalates have been found in urine, blood, sweat, breast milk, saliva, amniotic fluid, and umbilical cord blood (Table 2) [15-19]. Phthalates are used extensively in our daily life, the effect of phthalates exposure has become an important issue, due to their persistence in the environment, resistance to chemical or enzymatic degradation and sequestration and storage in adipose tissue.



Figure 7. Structure of common phthalates. The structures of the phthalates: a General structure of phthalates. b Dibutyl phthalate (DBP) structure, c benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP) structure, d bis (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) structure, e diethyl phthalate (DEP) structure.

Table 2. Concentrations range of phthalates or the main metabolite found in body fluids

Phthalate	DEP	DBP	BBP	DEHP	Reference
Urine	6.76-6978 µg/g ª	20.7-342 µg/g <sup>ь</sup>	37.9 µg/L °	1.11-108 µg/g <sup>d</sup>	[15, 53]
Maternal Blood	18.90 µg/mL	7.67 µg/mL	-	8.84 µg/mL	[54]
Sweat	3.94-750 µg/g ª	8-58.6 µg/g	-	8-576 µg/g	[15]
Breast Milk	0.31 ng/g	0.62-1.2 ng/g	1.2 μg/L <sup>c</sup>	156-398 ng/g	[18, 55, 56]
Saliva	91.4 ng/mL <sup>a</sup>	22.4±9.8 nmol <sup>b</sup>	353.6 ng/mL <sup>c</sup>	1017±147 µg/g	[57, 58]
Amniotic Fluid	0.70 µg/L <sup>a</sup>	3.53 µg/L <sup>ь</sup>	-	1.47 µg/L <sup>d</sup>	[19]
Umbilical Cord Blood	11.92 μg/mL 8.99 μg/L	5.71 μg/mL 68.14 μg/L	22.5 µg/L	5.20 μg/mL 187.16 μg/L	[52, 54]

Main metabolites: <sup>a</sup>MEP (Mono-ethyl phthalate) <sup>b</sup>MnBP (Mono-n-butyl phthalate) <sup>c</sup>MBzP (Monobenzyl phthalate) <sup>d</sup>MEHP (Mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate)

The estimate daily exposure (EDI) of DEHP in United State are: 2.2–7.4 and 2.6– 3.8  $\mu$ g/kg-bw/day in adults and children, respectively. DEP are 5.5–11.4 and 1.7–6.3  $\mu$ g/kg-bw/day [20], and DBP 1.0  $\mu$ g/kg-bw/day for general population [21]. An important human exposition to DEHP occur during medical procedures using PVCcontaining devices and blood stored in plastic bags [22]. For example, patients undergoing hemodialysis can receive as much as 150 mg of DEHP in 5 h [23]. Lagerberg et al. [24] reported that plasma storage bags release 5720  $\mu$ g/mL of DEHP after 24 h of storage, while in stored erythrocytes the concentration of DEHP increased from 4.1 ± 0.9  $\mu$ g/mL at 33 ± 11  $\mu$ g/mL at day 42 of storage. Inoue et al. [25] found in total blood stored for 21 days up to 83.2  $\mu$ g/mL of DEHP. In cord blood up to 17.8 ± 2.7  $\mu$ g/mL of DEHP was found in the first 24 h of storage. It is of particular interest to know what effect phthalates exert on cell viability when interacting with umbilical cord blood that is used as a source of stem cells [26]. Hematopoietic stem cells extracted from umbilical cord blood have shown advantages over hematopoietic stem cells from bone marrow or mobilized peripheral blood, because invasive techniques are not used to obtain them and because they exhibit a greater potential for proliferation and expansion [27]. Since phthalates can cause cell damage and death and are present in blood storage bags [24, 25, 28-30], it is of clinical importance to study the effect of them on the total cell population of umbilical cord blood as it is used for stem cell transplants as a treatment for recurrent malignant hematological tumors, bone marrow failure syndromes, severe congenital immunodeficiency states and some metabolic alterations.

## 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1. Reagents

DBP, BBP, DEHP and DEP were purchased from Sigma. MethoCult GF (H4434) was obtained from StemCell Technologies, Inc.

#### 2.2. Cell culture and exposure conditions

The umbilical cord blood was centrifuged at 450xg for 15 min at 25 °C. Subsequently, the white globular bundle was recovered and diluted with PBS pH 7.2. This cell suspension was placed with 7 mL of Ficoll- Paque Plus reagent (Pharmacia) and centrifuged at 550xg for 15 min at 25 °C. The white cell pack was collected and washed with PBS and centrifuged at 800xg for 20 min at 25 °C. Isolated mononuclear cells were resuspended in Iscove modified Dulbecco culture medium (IMDM, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) and 10% Bovine Fetal Serum (SFB, Gibco Grand Island, NY, USA). Cells were grown in 24-well plates, inoculating 0.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL in culture medium (IMDM, Sigma) with 10% FBS, 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin, 100 U/mL penicillin and 0.25 µg/mL of amphotericin B (Sigma). The following cytokines (IMDMcyt) were added to the base medium: 5 ng/mL Interleukin-3 (IL-3), 12.5 ng/mL Interleukin-6 (IL-6), 5 ng/mL Seminal cell factor (SCF), 5 ng/mL of FLt-3 receptor ligand (Flt-3-L) (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA), 10 ng/mL of Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor (G-CSF) (FILATIL<sup>®</sup>), 10 ng/mL of Granulocyte and Macrophage Colony Stimulation Factor (GM-CSF) (GRAMAL®) and 3 U/mL of Erythropoietin (Epo) (BIOYETIN<sup>®</sup>) (Probiomed, Mexico City, Mexico). The plates were placed in an incubator at 37 °C with a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. Later on, day 5, half of the cell suspension was replaced by new IMDMcyt medium (400xg for 15 min at 25 °C) modified from [31, 32]. The cultures were exposed to different concentrations of phthalates (DBP, BBP, DEHP and DEP) for 14 days and a condition without compound (control) was placed. The number of total cells was determined by the trypan blue exclusion method using a hematocytometer [33, 34].

#### 2.3. Determination of hematopoietic progenitors

10,000 mononuclear cells were inoculated in 1 mL of medium (MethoCult<sup>®</sup> GF H4434 classic), (StemCell Technologies, Inc. Vancouver British Columbia, Canada)

this medium contains the following cytokines: 50 ng of SCF, 10 ng of IL-3, 10 ng of GM-CSF and 3 ng of Epo. The cell suspension was transferred to a 35 mm Petri dish. The plates were incubated for 14 days at 37 °C with a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. The colonies identified and quantified by means of the clonogenic assay were named as: erythroid colony forming units (CFU-E), erythroid burst forming units (BFU-E), granulocyte forming units (CFU-G), forming units of monocytes (CFU-M), granulocyte and monocyte forming units (CFU-GM) or multipotent forming units (CFU-GEMM) [31, 35].

#### 2.4. Statistical analysis

All data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error (S.E.). Statistical significance was determined by One-way ANOVA (p < 0.05) and post hoc analysis by Dunnett's. The statistical analysis was performed using Microsoft Excel v 14.0.

#### 3. RESULTS

#### 3.1. Representative kinetics of cell expansion of DEHP treatments

Figure 8 shows a representative kinetics of cell expansion of human mononuclear cells from cultures exposed from 0.1 to 100  $\mu$ g/mL of DEHP and the control culture during 14 days of incubation. It was found that for the 4 treatments the lag phase was 4 days. The control presented the exponential phase on day 5, the stationary phase on day 9 and on day 12 the decay phase. In cultures exposed to 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL DEHP the exponential phase was presented on day 5, starting on day 10 the slope began to decrease, observing a significant difference on cell viability at day 11. The cultures treated with 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/mL DEHP presented a similar behavior; the exponential phase was on day 5 and the decay phase on day 11; a significant difference was observed on cell viability with respect to control from days 8 and 9, respectively. In cultures exposed to 100  $\mu$ g/mL DEHP, a significant decrease in cell viability was observed after day 6.

#### 3.2. Effect of phthalates on the *in vitro* expansion of hematopoietic cells

Hematopoietic cells isolated from umbilical cord blood were exposed to different concentrations of phthalates: DBP, BBP, DEHP and DEP ranging from 0.1 to 100  $\mu$ g/mL. The samples were compared with respect to the control, which obtained a maximum cell expansion of 1.31 x 10<sup>6</sup> ± 2.1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cell/mL. All DBP concentration used were statistically significant and showed a reduction in cell expansion (*p* < 0.05) (Fig. 9a). For the cultures exposed to concentrations of 0.1, 1, 10 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL of DBP, a maximum cell expansion of 76.8, 73.2, 62.3 and 19.3% respectively, was obtained (Fig. 9a). In the case of BBP concentrations of 0.1, 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/mL, did not show a significant reduction with respect to the control. A maximum cell expansion of 83.2, 83.7 and 83.2% respectively was obtained. Nevertheless, at 100  $\mu$ g/mL BBP a significant reduction was observed (*p* < 0.05), obtaining only 31.7% of cell expansion (Fig. 9b). On the other hand, cultures exposed to 0.1 and 1  $\mu$ g/mL DEHP did not showed a significant reduction, but at 10 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL DEHP a significant reduction was observed (*p* < 0.05), showing a maximum cell expansion of 59.3 and 6.5% respectively (Fig. 9c).



Figure 8. Kinetic of hematopoietic cell expansion exposed to the treatments with DEHP. The graph shows the curve of total cellular expansion during the incubation period of the human mononuclear cells of umbilical cord blood exposed from 0.1 to 100  $\mu$ g/mL of DEHP and the respective control cultures. The assays were started with 500,000 cells/mL. The assay was carried out in triplicate for the cultures exposed to the different concentrations to be analyzed of phthalate and for the control culture. The statistical analysis showed that, with respect to the control culture, on day 6 the cultures exposed to 100  $\mu$ g/mL showed significant differences, on the other hand, on day 8 the cultures exposed to 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/mL showed a significant difference and cells exposed to 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL DEHP showed a significant difference at day 11



Figure 9. Maximum cell expansion of hematopoietic cells exposed to DBP, BBP, DEHP and DEP. Different concentrations of DBP, BBP, DEHP and DEP (0.1–100  $\mu$ g/mL) were tested for 14 days. The cultures were started with 500,000 cells/mL. (a) Cultures exposed to DBP showed a significant decrement at lower concentrations of 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL with respect to the controls (p < 0.05) n = 3. (b) Cultures exposed to BBP showed a significant decrement at 100  $\mu$ g/mL with respect to the controls (p < 0.05) n = 3. (c) Treatments of DEHP at 10 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL showed a significant decrement with respect to the controls (p < 0.05; p < 0.01). n = 2. (d) Cultures exposed to DEP from 0.1 to 100  $\mu$ g/mL did not show significant differences with respect to the controls

Cultures exposed to 0.1, 1, 10 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL of DEP did not show a significant difference in maximum cell expansion with respect to the control (Fig. 9d). These data demonstrate that DBP is the most toxic phthalate due to at lower concentration a significant reduction is observed. But at higher concentration (100  $\mu$ g/mL) DEHP presents the highest toxicity, since it showed a reduction of 93.5%.

# 3.3. Effect of phthalates on hematopoietic progenitor cells of umbilical cord blood

The hematopoietic progenitor cells present in umbilical cord blood MNCs exposed to different concentrations of DBP, BBP, DEHP and DEP (0.01–100 µg/mL) were evaluated by means of the Colony Forming Unit (CFU) assay. Cells exposed to 10 and 100 µg/mL DBP showed a significant reduction of the amount of CFU, where 25.4 and 0.9% of CFU were obtained (p < 0.05) (Fig. 10a). In the case of BBP, only cells exposed to 100 µg/mL BBP showed a significant reduction (p < 0.05), the amount of CFU obtained was 2.9% (Fig. 10b). On the other hand, treatments with 100 µg/mL of DEHP showed a significant decrease of hematopoietic progenitors of 81% compared to the controls (p < 0.05) (Fig. 10c). This indicates that DEHP also negatively affected the expansion of hematopoietic progenitors. Interestingly, the CFUs present in treatments of 0.1–100 µg/mL of DEP did not show a significant decrease with respect to the control (Fig. 10d). According to these results it is deduced that DBP presents greater toxicity than the rest of the phthalates (BBP, DEHP and DEP) since at the concentration of 10 µg/mL the number of progenitors was significantly reduced.



Figure 10. Maximum hematopoietic progenitor expansion exposed to DBP, BBP, DEHP and DEP. The graphs show the number of colony forming units (CFU) of the cultures exposed to DBP, BBP, DEHP and DEP in range of 0.1–100 µg/mL. Cultures were started with 10,000 cells/mL. (a) DBP treatments did show a significant decrement at 10 and 100 µg/mL and n = 3 (p < 0.05). (b) Cultures exposed to 100 µg/mL BBP showed a significant decrement and n = 3 (p < 0.05). (c) Treatments with DEHP showed a significant decrement in the amount of CFUs exposed to 100 µg/mL compared to controls (p < 0.05) n = 2. (d) Treatments with DEP did not show any significant difference between treatments and controls

#### 4. DISCUSSION

In the present study, the cytotoxic effect of phthalates DBP, BBP and DEHP on human hematopoietic cells was demonstrated. Andersen et al. [36] reported the disruptive effect of DBP and BBP, since they found that these compounds have affinity to the estrogen receptor, in addition to inducing the proliferation of MCF-1 cells. Jones et al. [37] found that different phthalates (including DBP) have toxicity against the WI-38 cell line, which is derived from fibroblasts of human lung tissue. Krüger et al. [38] showed that both DBP and BBP were toxic at concentrations of 13.9 µg/mL and 15.6 µg/mL respectively for the B4G12 cell line, which is derived from corneal endothelial cells. Manz et al. [39] demonstrated that DEHP was toxic to promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL-60) at concentrations of 100 µg/mL, however, at 10 µg/mL no toxic effects were observed but shown an alteration in the migration process. Anderson et al. [40] showed that DEHP was cytotoxic and produce DNA damage in human leucocytes and lymphocytes. Sicińska [41] demonstrated that DBP and BBP induce haemolysis in human erythrocytes at concentrations of 10 and 5 µg/mL, respectively and eryptosis at concentrations of 1 µg/mL DBP and 2.5 µg/mL BBP. On the other hand, DEHP induce the formation of stomatocytes in red blood cells (RBCs) at concentrations as low as ng/mL [42]. These agree with the results obtained in the present work, given that at concentrations of 100 µg/mL DBP, BBP and DEHP had the highest toxicity (Figure 9a-c); where the DBP turned out to be the most toxic between these compounds tested; since as seen in Figure 9a, all DBP concentrations evaluated showed a significant decrease in the number of cells with respect to the control, however, in the case of BBP, DEHP and DEP at lower concentrations, most of them did not present toxicity for the MNC's. Nevertheless, the possibility that these cells undergo some type of modification is not ruled out since the endocrine disruptors can produce a range of effects similar to those that estrogen would produce naturally on different hematopoietic strains. A previous study reported that hematopoietic stem progenitor cells contain the receptors for follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, prolactin, androgens, β-estrogen and progesterone capable of stimulating hematopoiesis [43]. Therefore, phthalates may be exerting their action through these nuclear receptors. On the other hand, it has been reported that phthalates can cause DNA damage [44]. For instance, DBP,

BBP and DEHP may affect DNA methylation, histone modifications (acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation) and expression of non-coding RNAs, including miRNAs in utero and neonatal exposure [45]. In this study we used the colony forming unit (CFU) method, due to, is a method frequently used in clinical therapy laboratories to measure the content of progenitor cells in bone marrow, peripherally blood and umbilical cord blood sample and allows to evaluate the functional integrity of the cells after handling (volume reduction, erythrocyte removal, cryopreservation and thawing) [46-48]. As observed in Figure 10 the concentration of 0.1 µg/mL for all tested compounds did not show adverse effect. However, many studies confirm that the variation in the levels of estrogen or endocrine disruptors can induce effects such as activation in the expression of different cytokines in the different hematopoietic lineages [49-51]. For example, Liu et al. [51] demonstrated that macrophages exposed to concentrations of 22 µg/mL of the endocrine disruptor bisphenol-A induce the expression of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ . On the contrary, at concentrations of 1, 10 and 100 µg/ mL, DBP, BBP and DEHP a decrease in the number of hematopoietic progenitors was observed (Figure10 4a-c). This is important since the presence of phthalates in blood and umbilical cord serum has been demonstrated [51-52]. The negative effect of phthalates on hematopoietic progenitors has been reported in cultures initiated with CD34<sup>+</sup> cells in the presence of DEHP for 72 h, where a significant reduction of 57.4% was reported in the number of colonies formed compared to the control [30].

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS

We demonstrated that the presence of DBP, BBP and DEHP phthalates affects the *in vitro* expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells isolated from the umbilical cord blood, the DBP being the most cytotoxic of the phthalates tested. Considering the widespread exposure to phthalates in the population, future molecular studies will be necessary to understand the effect of phthalates on hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Our findings are expected to open new research horizons to investigate the effects of the endocrine disruptors on the transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells.

6. REFERENCES

1. Thomas, J.A., M.J. Thomas, and S.D. Gangolli, *Biological effects of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate and other phthalic acid esters.* CRC critical reviews in toxicology, 1984. **13**(4): p. 283-317.

2. Braun, J.M., S. Sathyanarayana, and R. Hauser, *Phthalate exposure and children's health.* Current opinion in pediatrics, 2013. **25**(2): p. 247.

3. Latini, G., *Monitoring phthalate exposure in humans.* Clinica Chimica Acta, 2005. **361**(1-2): p. 20-29.

4. Shaz, B.H., K. Grima, and C.D. Hillyer, *2-(Diethylhexyl) phthalate in blood bags: is this a public health issue?* Transfusion, 2011. **51**(11): p. 2510-2517.

5. Singh, A., W. Lawrence, and J. Autian, *Teratogenicity of phthalate esters in rats.* Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 1972. **61**(1): p. 51-55.

6. Kostić, I.S., et al., *Determination of di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in plastic medical devices.* Hemijska Industrija, 2016. **70**(2): p. 159.

7. Ahmad, R., et al., *Effects of in utero di-butyl phthalate and butyl benzyl phthalate exposure on offspring development and male reproduction of rat.* Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 2014. **21**(4): p. 3156-3165.

Mankidy, R., et al., *Biological impact of phthalates*. Toxicology Letters, 2013.
 217(1): p. 50-58.

9. Witorsch, R.J. and J.A. Thomas, *Personal care products and endocrine disruption: a critical review of the literature.* Critical reviews in toxicology, 2010. **40**(sup3): p. 1-30.

10. Kusk, K.O., et al., *Endocrine potency of wastewater: contents of endocrine disrupting chemicals and effects measured by in vivo and in vitro assays.* Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 2011. **30**(2): p. 413-426.

11. Api, A., *Toxicological profile of diethyl phthalate: a vehicle for fragrance and cosmetic ingredients.* Food and Chemical Toxicology, 2001. **39**(2): p. 97-108.

12. Kavlock, R., et al., *NTP center for the evaluation of risks to human reproduction: phthalates expert panel report on the reproductive and developmental toxicity of di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate.* Reproductive toxicology, 2002. **16**(5): p. 529-653.

Meeker, J.D., S. Sathyanarayana, and S.H. Swan, *Phthalates and other additives in plastics: human exposure and associated health outcomes.* Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 2009.
 364(1526): p. 2097-2113.

14. Staples, C.A., et al., *The environmental fate of phthalate esters: a literature review.* Chemosphere, 1997. **35**(4): p. 667-749.

15. Genuis, S.J., et al., *Human elimination of phthalate compounds: blood, urine, and sweat (BUS) study.* The Scientific World Journal, 2012. **2012**.

16. Hays, S.M., et al., *Biomonitoring equivalents for di-isononyl phthalate (DINP).* Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 2011. **60**(2): p. 181-188.

17. Latini, G., et al., *In utero exposure to di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate and duration of human pregnancy.* Environmental health perspectives, 2003. **111**(14): p. 1783.

18. Main, K.M., et al., *Human breast milk contamination with phthalates and alterations of endogenous reproductive hormones in infants three months of age.* Environmental health perspectives, 2005. **114**(2): p. 270-276.

19. Tranfo, G., et al., *Phthalate metabolites in amniotic fluid and maternal urine samples.* Journal of Environmental Protection, 2014. **5**(14): p. 1411.

20. Calafat, A.M. and R.H. McKee, *Integrating biomonitoring exposure data into the risk assessment process: phthalates [diethyl phthalate and di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate] as a case study.* Environmental health perspectives, 2006. **114**(11): p. 1783.

21. Marsee, K., et al., *Estimated daily phthalate exposures in a population of mothers of male infants exhibiting reduced anogenital distance.* Environmental health perspectives, 2006. **114**(6): p. 805.

22. Lovekamp, T. and B. Davis, *Mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate suppresses* aromatase transcript levels and estradiol production in cultured rat granulosa cells. Toxicology and applied pharmacology, 2001. **172**(3): p. 217-224.

23. Gibson, T.P., W.A. Briggs, and B.J. Boone, *Delivery of di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate to patients during hemodialysis.* The Journal of laboratory and clinical medicine, 1976. **87**(3): p. 519-524.

24. Lagerberg, J.W., et al., *In vitro evaluation of the quality of blood products collected and stored in systems completely free of di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate– plasticized materials.* Transfusion, 2015. **55**(3): p. 522-531.

25. Inoue, K., et al., *Evaluation and analysis of exposure levels of di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate from blood bags.* Clinica Chimica Acta, 2005. **358**(1-2): p. 159-166.

26. Cairo, M.S. and J.E. Wagner, *Placental and/or umbilical cord blood: an alternative source of hematopoietic stem cells for transplantation.* Blood, 1997. **90**(12): p. 4665-4678.

27. Andrade, P.Z., et al., *Stem cell bioengineering strategies to widen the therapeutic applications of haematopoietic stem/progenitor cells from umbilical cord blood.* Journal of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, 2015. **9**(9): p. 988-1003.

28. Phillips, B.J., D. Anderson, and S.D. Gangolli, *Studies on the genetic effects of phthalic acid esters on cells in culture.* Environmental health perspectives, 1986.
65: p. 263.

29. Benachour, N. and A. Aris, *Toxic effects of low doses of Bisphenol-A on human placental cells.* Toxicology and applied pharmacology, 2009. **241**(3): p. 322-328.

30. Manz, P., et al., *Influence of Di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate on migration rate and differentiation of human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (CD34+).* Clinical hemorheology and microcirculation, 2015. **61**(2): p. 111-118.

31. De León, A., H. Mayani, and O.T. Ramírez, *Design, characterization and application of a minibioreactor for the culture of human hematopoietic cells under controlled conditions*, in *Cell Culture Engineering VI*. 1998, Springer. p. 127-138.

32. Mayani, H., et al., *Kinetics of Hematopoiesis in Dexter-Type Long-Term Cultures Established from Human Umbilical Cord Blood Cells.* Stem Cells, 1998. **16**(2): p. 127-135.

33. Louis, K.S. and A.C. Siegel, *Cell viability analysis using trypan blue: manual and automated methods*, in *Mammalian Cell Viability*. 2011, Springer. p. 7-12.

34. Phelan, K. and K.M. May, *Basic techniques in mammalian cell tissue culture.* Current protocols in cell biology, 2007: p. 1.1. 1-1.1. 22.

35. Andrade-Zaldívar, H., et al., *Expansion of CD34+ human hematopoietic cells from umbilical cord blood using roller bottles.* Revista Mexicana de Ingeniería Química, 2014. **13**(2).

36. Andersen, H.R., et al., *Comparison of short-term estrogenicity tests for identification of hormone-disrupting chemicals.* Environmental health perspectives, 1999. **107**(Suppl 1): p. 89.

37. Jones, A.E., et al., *Phthalate ester toxicity in human cell cultures.* Toxicology and applied pharmacology, 1975. **31**(2): p. 283-289.

38. Krüger, T., et al., *Effects of phthalates on the human corneal endothelial cell line B4G12.* International journal of toxicology, 2012. **31**(4): p. 364-371.

39. Manz, P., et al., *Impact of Di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate on migration rate of human promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL-60)*. Clinical hemorheology and microcirculation, 2014. **58**(1): p. 241-246.

40. Anderson, D., T.W. Yu, and F. Hincal, *Effect of some phthalate esters in human cells in the comet assay.* Teratogenesis, carcinogenesis, and mutagenesis, 1999. **19**(4): p. 275-280.

41. Sicińska, P., *Di-n-butyl phthalate, butylbenzyl phthalate and their metabolites induce haemolysis and eryptosis in human erythrocytes.* Chemosphere, 2018. **203**: p. 44-53.

42. Melzak, K.A., et al., *The Blood Bag Plasticizer Di-2-Ethylhexylphthalate Causes Red Blood Cells to Form Stomatocytes, Possibly by Inducing Lipid Flip-Flop.* Transfusion Medicine and Hemotherapy, 2018. **45**(6): p. 413-422.

43. Mierzejewska, K., et al., *Hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells express several functional sex hormone receptors—novel evidence for a potential developmental link between hematopoiesis and primordial germ cells.* Stem cells and development, 2015. **24**(8): p. 927-937.

44. Kim, S., et al., *Di-2-ethylhexylphthalate promotes thyroid cell proliferation and DNA damage through activating thyrotropin-receptor-mediated pathways in vitro and in vivo.* Food and Chemical Toxicology, 2019. **124**: p. 265-272.

45. Singh, S. and S.S.-L. Li, *Epigenetic effects of environmental chemicals bisphenol a and phthalates.* International journal of molecular sciences, 2012. **13**(8): p. 10143-10153.

46. Pereira, C., E. Clarke, and J. Damen, *Hematopoietic colony-forming cell assays*, in *Stem Cell Assays*. 2007, Springer. p. 177-208.

47. Sarma, N.J., A. Takeda, and N.R. Yaseen, *Colony forming cell (CFC) assay for human hematopoietic cells.* Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE, 2010(46).

48. Wognum, B., et al., Colony forming cell assays for human hematopoietic progenitor cells, in Basic Cell Culture Protocols. 2013, Springer. p. 267-283.

49. Chighizola, C. and P.L. Meroni, *The role of environmental estrogens and autoimmunity.* Autoimmunity reviews, 2012. **11**(6-7): p. A493-A501.

50. Kovats, S., *Estrogen receptors regulate innate immune cells and signaling pathways.* Cellular immunology, 2015. **294**(2): p. 63-69.

51. Liu, Y., et al., *Modulation of cytokine expression in human macrophages by endocrine-disrupting chemical Bisphenol-A.* Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2014. **451**(4): p. 592-598.

52. Huang, Y., et al., *Phthalate levels in cord blood are associated with preterm delivery and fetal growth parameters in Chinese women.* PloS one, 2014. **9**(2): p. e87430.

53. Koch, H.M., et al., *Internal exposure of the general population to DEHP and other phthalates—determination of secondary and primary phthalate monoester metabolites in urine.* Environmental research, 2003. **93**(2): p. 177-185.

54. Lin, L., et al., *Levels of environmental endocrine disruptors in umbilical cord blood and maternal blood of low-birth-weight infants.* Zhonghua yu fang yi xue za zhi [Chinese journal of preventive medicine], 2008. **42**(3): p. 177-180.

55. Zhu, J., et al., *Phthalate esters in human milk: concentration variations over a 6-month postpartum time.* Environmental science & technology, 2006. **40**(17): p. 5276-5281.

56. Mortensen, G.K., et al., *Determination of phthalate monoesters in human milk, consumer milk, and infant formula by tandem mass spectrometry (LC–MS–MS).* Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry, 2005. **382**(4): p. 1084-1092.

57. Steiner, I., et al., *Migration of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate from PVC child articles into saliva and saliva simulant.* Food Additives & Contaminants, 1998. **15**(7): p. 812-817.

58. Silva, M.J., et al., *Detection of phthalate metabolites in human saliva.* Archives of toxicology, 2005. **79**(11): p. 647-652.

## CONCLUSIONS

After the exposure of DINP on HepG2 cells, a decrease in gene expression and protein levels of Sirt1 and Sirt3 proteins was observed. As well as an increase in acetylated proteins and ROS levels. On the other hand, the presence of DBP, BBP and DEHP affects the *in vitro* expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells isolated from the umbilical cord blood.

Considering the widespread exposure to phthalates in the population, future molecular and *in vivo* studies will be necessary to understand the effect of phthalates on human cells. Our findings are expected to open new research horizons to investigate the effects of phthalates on the transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells as well as identifying the mechanism whereby phthalate exposure is associated with a metabolic syndrome.

## ANNEXES

## **RNA Extraction**

#### Monolayer cells:

NOTE: TRI Reagent is **not** compatible with plastic culture plates.

- 1. Wash the cells 2-3 times with PBS.
- 2. Resuspend the cells with PBS and place in an Eppendorf tube.
- 3. Centrifuge for 10 min at 1000 rpm.
- 4. Discard the supernatant and resuspend the cells with TRI Reagent (1 mL of TRI Reagent per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> of glass culture plate surface area). After addition of the reagent, the cell lysate should be passed several times through a pipette to form a homogeneous lysate.
- Allow samples to stand for 5-10 min at room temperature. Add 0.2 mL of chloroform per mL of TRI Reagent used. Shake vigorously for 15 seconds and allow standing for 2-15 minutes at room temperature. Centrifuge the resulting mixture at 13000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C.
- 6. Transfer the aqueous phase to a fresh tube and add 0.5 mL of 2-propanol per mL of TRI Reagent used in sample preparation and mix. Allow the sample to stand for 5-10 min at room temperature. Centrifuge at 13000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. The RNA precipitate will form a pellet on the side and bottom of the tube.
- Remove the supernatant and wash the RNA pellet by adding a minimum of 1 mL of 75% ethanol per 1 mL of TRI Reagent used in sample preparation.
   Vortex the sample and then centrifuge at 13000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C.
- 8. Briefly dry the RNA pellet for 5-10 min by air-drying. Do not let the RNA pellet dry completely, as this will greatly decrease its solubility.
- Add an appropriate volume of DEPC-water to the RNA pellet. To facilitate dissolution, mix by repeated pipetting with a micropipette at 55-60°C for 10-15 min.

NOTE: final preparation of RNA is free of DNA and proteins. It should have a  $A_{260}/A_{280}$  ratio of >1.7.

# AB High Capacity cDNA Synthesis (2X mixture)

Each (µL)

2
0.8
2
1
1
6.8

	Thermal (	Cycler

Lid heat	105°C
1 <sup>st</sup> cycle	25°C 10 min
2 <sup>nd</sup> cycle	37°C 120 min
3 <sup>rd</sup> cycle	85°C 5 min
	4°C forever
Total volume	20 µL

Master Mix

Add 13.2 µL RNA + 6.8 µL 2X RT

# qPCR reaction mix protocol

	Volume
cDNA	1 µL
Forward primer (10 µM)	0.4 µL
Reverse primer (10 µM)	0.4 µL
H <sub>2</sub> O	3.2 µL
Total volume	10 µL

# **Protein Extraction Procedure**

### Buffer A/B method (Cytoplasmic, Nuclear and Mitochondrial Extraction)

- Add PMSF and Protease Inhibitor to Working Solutions (Buffer A and Buffer B). Keep everything on ice.
- 2. Aspirate media and wash with PBS (3 times).
- 3. Add Buffer A (as less as possible)- 500  $\mu$ L for 35 cm<sup>2</sup> dish.
- 4. Scrape the cells using cell scrapper into the Eppendorf (same scraper may be used for all dishes as long as it is washed with PBS every time).
- 5. Incubate for 10 min in 4°C vortex.
- 6. Centrifuge for 10 min (high speed in 4°C).
  - a. Supernatant= cytoplasmic proteins
  - b. Pellet= nucleus, mitchondria
- Pipet supernatant into an Eppendorf tube labeled as CYTOPLASMIC PROTEINS.
- 8. Resuspend pellet in 25-30 µL (or less if pellet is small) of Buffer B.
- 9. Incubate for 45 min in 4°C vortex.
- 10. Centrifuge for 10 min (high speed in 4°C)
  - a. Supernatant= desired protein
  - b. Pellet= cell debris
- 11. Pipet supernatant into an Eppendorf tube labeled as NUCLEAR PROTEINS and discard pellet.
- 12. Store the samples at -70°C.

# Protein quantification (Bradford method)

- Dilute the extracted protein to 1/20<sup>th</sup> of its concentration in a new tube (keep protein and diluted lysate on ice during entire process).
- Add 5 μL of diluted protein to at least three Wells of a 96-well transparent plate.
- 3. After adding all simples to be quantified in serial order in your plate, begin to add your standards in similar way.

- Standards are to be made in diluted lysis buffer (1/20<sup>th</sup> buffer A/B or RIPA depending on extraction and fraction) using BSA. Make standards of 0, 0.01, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1 mg/mL.
- 5. Dilute 5 mL of Bio-rad proteins assay reagent in 20 mL H<sub>2</sub>O.
- Add 250 μL of diluted reagent from reservoir to 96-well plate. Work quickly but carefully.
- 7. Hold plate away from light for 20 min.
- 8. Read the absorbance at 595 nm, mixing for 10 s before read.
- 9. After obtaining concentrations make your samples ready for electrophoresis by adding Laemmli buffer.
- 10. For 100  $\mu$ L working solution of sample loading buffer (Laemmli buffer) add 5  $\mu$ L  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol to 95  $\mu$ L of Laemmli.
- 11.Boil at 95°C for 5 min.
- 12. Store samples at -20°C.

## **Electrophoresis SDS-PAGE**

1. Make resolving/separating gels of desired percentage

#### SEPARATING GEL

	gel %age>	6%	7%	8%	10%	12%
Use one depending on Acrilamide %	30% Acrylamide solution (mL)	2	2.32	2.66	3.34	4
	40% Acrylamide solution (mL)	1.5	1.75	2	2.5	3
	4X Separation buffer (mL)	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5
Depending on Acrilamide %	dH₂O (30% Ac)	5.5	5.18	4.84	4.16	3.5
	dH₂O (40% Ac)	6	5.75	5.5	5	4.5

Add 100 μL of 10% APS Add 10 μL of TEMED 2. Make stacking gel

## STACKING GEL

0.6 mL 30% Acrylamide (or 0.45 mL 40%) 1.25 mL 4X Stacking buffer 3.15 mL dH<sub>2</sub>O (3.3 mL when using 40%) 50  $\mu$ L 10% APS 5  $\mu$ L TEMED

- 3. Centrifuge simples and Ladder (protein marker) for 30s.
- 4. Load simples and Ladder on gel and run at 200V till marker runs completely (usually 45-60 min).

# Western Blotting

- 1. After transfer, block the membrane with 5% milk solution for 1 h at RT on rocking platform.
- 2. Wash 3 times with TBST 5-15 min each.
- 3. Incubate with primary antibody overnight at 4°C on rocking platform.
- 4. Wash 3 times with TBST 5-15 min each.
- 5. Incubate with secondary antibody for 1.5-2 h at RT.
- 6. Wash 3 times with TBST 5-15 min each.
- 7. Equilibrate the membrane with AP buffer (with MgCl<sub>2</sub>) for 15 min.
- 8. Development solution: 10 mL AP buffer (with MgCl<sub>2</sub>), 33  $\mu$ L BCIP and 66  $\mu$ L NBT, add to the membrane until bands came up. Stop the reaction with dH<sub>2</sub>O.

# MTT Assay

- 1. Seed your cells in 96 well plates and treat your cells according to your study.
- After exposure, the cells were incubated in the dark with 10 μL MTT solution (stock=5 mg/mL PBS 1X) for 4 h in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator.
- 3. Aspirate media.
- Add 100 μL of DMSO in each well, and the plates were agitated to dissolve the formazan crystal product.

- 5. Absorbance was then measured at 490 nm using a multi well plate reader.
- 6. The percentage of viable cells was calculated by defining the cell viability without treatment as 100%.

### Measured of ROS levels by DCFDA assay

- 1. Seed your cells in 96 well or 24 well plates and treat your cells according to your study.
- 2. After exposure, cells were treated with 25  $\mu$ M DCFDA for 45 min at 37 °C.
- 3. Fluorescence was measured at an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 520 nm.
- 4. The fluorescence intensity corresponds to the ROS generation in the treated cells.

#### **Recipes:**

Chemical	Buffer A	Buffer B
	(Cytoplasmic)	(Mitochondrial
		and nuclear)
HEPES	10 mM	20 mM
KCI	0.5 mM	-
MgCl <sub>2</sub>	10 mM	1.5 mM
Glycerol	-	25%
NaCl	-	420 mM
DTT	0.5 mM	0.5 mM
IGEPAL CA-630	0.1%	-
EDTA	-	0.2 mM
dH <sub>2</sub> O	Up to final volume	
PMSF	0.5 mM	0.5 mM
Protease Inhibitor	10 µL/mL	10 µL/mL

# **Protein Lysis Buffers**

4X Separation buffer	4X Stacking buffer	5X Running buffer (1 L)	6X Sample buffer
90 g Tris base 2 g SDS*	30.25 g Tris base 2 g SDS*	15.14 g Tris base 72.05 g Glycine 25 mL 20% SDS*	7 mL 0.5 M Tris pH 6.8 3 mL Glycerol 1 g SDS 1.2 mg bromophenol blue
Adjust pH to 8.8 with HCI dH <sub>2</sub> O to 500 mL, store at RT	Adjust pH to 6.8 with HCI dH <sub>2</sub> O to 500 mL, store at RT	dH <sub>2</sub> O to 1 L (pH 8.3- do not adjust), store at 4°C	REMEMBER: working solution contains 5% β- mercaptoethanol

\*Add after dissolving other components

TBST	Blocking and secondary antibody solution	Primary antibody solution	Towbin 10X <sup>1</sup>	AP buffer <sup>2</sup>
2.428 g Tris 29.22 g NaCl	5% milk in TBST	5% BSA in TBST	3. 03 g Tris base 14.4 g Glycine	1.21 g Tris base 0.58 g NaCl 1.51 g MgCl <sub>2</sub> - 6H <sub>2</sub> O
Adjust pH to 7.5		0.02% NaN₃	Adjust pH to	
		to preserve	8.3	Adjust pH to 9.5
dH <sub>2</sub> O to 1 L		antibody for	MIIIIQ H <sub>2</sub> O to	dH <sub>2</sub> O to 100 mL
1 mL Tween-20		long term use	100 mL	

<sup>1</sup>Use at 1X with 20% of methanol

<sup>2</sup>Add MgCl<sub>2</sub> before use